

Molecular Markers in Micropropagation, Tissue Culture and In Vitro Plant Research

Jaime A. Teixeira da Silva¹ • Hanna Bolibok^{2*} • Monika Rakoczy-Trojanowska²

Department of Horticulture, Faculty of Agriculture, Kagawa University, Miki-cho, Ikenobe, 2393, Kagawa-ken, 761-0795, Japan
Department of Plant Genetics, Breeding and Biotechnology, Faculty of Horticulture and Landscape Architecture, Warsaw Agricultural University, Nowoursynowska 159, 02-776 Warsaw, Poland

Corresponding author: * tapatik@yahoo.com

ABSTRACT

Molecular marker technologies have become a powerful tool in crop improvement through their use in germplasm characterization, linkage mapping and molecular breeding. *In vitro* plant research has become one of the areas of extensive molecular marker application, as they can be used to monitor the somaclonal variation, verify the genetic fidelity of micropropagated plants and to identify genotypes with desired response to *in vitro* culture conditions. The objective of this paper is to summarize literature concerning application of various molecular markers for genetic fidelity assessment of *in vitro* cultured plants.

Keywords: cryopreservation, genetic stability, *in vitro*, micropropagation, molecular markers, somaclonal variation, tissue culture Abbreviations: AFLP, amplified fragment length polymorphism; IRAP, inter-retrotransposon amplified polymorphism, ISSR, intersimple sequence repeats; MAS, marker-assisted selection; MSAP, methylation sensitive amplified polymorphism; QTL, quantitative trait locus; RAPD, random amplified polymorphic DNA; REMAP, retrotransposon-microsatellite amplified polymorphism; RFLP, restriction fragment length polymorphism; S-SAP, sequence-specific amplification polymorphism; SSR, simple sequence repeats; TCL, thin cell layer

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
MOLECULAR MARKERS FOR THE ANALYSES OF IN VITRO CULTURED PLANTS	67
GENETIC FIDELITY OF MICROPROPAGATED PLANTS	67
Ornamental plants	67
Trees	67
Tropical and sub-tropical fruit trees	67
Temperate fruit trees	67
Nut trees and palms	67
Forest and timber trees	
Endangered trees	
Grain, cereal and forage crops, and grasses (Poaceae)	68
Medicinal and aromatic plants	69
Other fruit and vegetable crops	69
GENETIC FIDELITY OF PLANTS AFTER CRYOPRESERVATION	69
Fruit trees	
Forest and timber trees	
Medicinal and aromatic plants	
Tuberous crops	
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
REFERENCES	70

INTRODUCTION

Molecular markers are specific DNA fragments that can be detected within the whole genome by means of an adequate technique. Several classes of molecular markers, such as RFLP, RAPD, AFLP, SSR, ISSR, have been developed to date, and used for numerous purposes. Recently, *in vitro* plant research has become one of the areas of extensive molecular marker application.

In vitro regeneration and micropropagation form the primary core of many, if not most horticultural plant and agricultural crop studies. A number of well defined problems in physiological, epigenetic and genetic quality are associated with the culture of plant cell, tissue and organs *in vitro*, namely, absence or loss of organogenic potential (recalcitrance), hyperhydricity (vitrification) and somaclonal variation, complex phenomena that are genotype and environment dependent and which affect the practical application of plant tissue culture in plant propagation and genetic manipulation.

In order to ensure the successful use of *in vitro* technology either for breeding programs or market distribution molecular markers are used to monitor the somaclonal variation, verify the genetic fidelity of micropropagated plants and to identify genotypes with desired response to *in vitro* culture conditions.

This review investigates how various molecular markers have been used for detection of somaclonal variation in several (but not exhaustively) *in vitro* micropropagation systems, but does not extend towards the stability of transgenes in genetically-modified plants. Application of molecular markers in tissue culture response studies, including identification of QTLs governing the reaction of different explant types to *in vitro* conditions and use of MAS in identification of genotypes with a desired response has been recently reviewed elsewhere (Bolibok and Rakoczy-Trojanowska 2006).

MOLECULAR MARKERS FOR THE ANALYSES OF IN VITRO CULTURED PLANTS

The main aim of clonal propagation is to retain the genetic integrity of the propagated plants. Somaclonal variation, although to a certain extent overcomeable by TCLs, a system that has allowed for the standardization of clonal micropropagation of numerous monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous species, allowing for mass-production of morphologically and genetically stable and uniform plants (Teixeira da Silva and Nhut 2003; Nhut *et al.* 2006), remains a factor affecting practical application of micropropagation.

Various molecular techniques are used to check genetic stability and lack of somaclonal variation in tissue culture derived plants, however easy to use, cheap and requiring no previous sequence information RAPD and ISSR markers clearly prevail in the published studies dealing with the subject. Nevertheless, technically more demanding AFLPs and sequence specific, highly polymorphic SSRs are also used relatively frequently.

As some of the somaclonal variation is of epigenetic nature it cannot be detected with conventional structural molecular markers. In those cases markers such as methyllation sensitive amplified polymorphism (MSAP) (Jaligot et al. 2003; Hao et al. 2004), methylation-sensitive RFLPs (Jaligot et al. 2002), or a gene expression approach (Morcillo et al. 2006) need to be used. Moreover, tissue culture has been shown to induce transposition of transposable elements of plants (Hirochika et al. 1996; Courtial et al. 2001), and their insertion at novel sites results in somaclonal variation (Wessler et al. 1995). Hence, using retrotranspozon-based molecular markers (S-SAP, IRAP, REMAP) in studies of in vitro cultured plant seams an interesting option and recently IRAP markers were successfully used for the analysis of banana somaclones (Asif and Othman 2005). Application of RFLP technology with appropriately chosen probes gives the possibility to assess the genetic fidelity of micropropagated plants with respect to their nuclear, mitochondrial and chloroplast genomes (Abe et al. 2002; Devarumath et al. 2002). Generally, simultaneous application of different DNA fingerprinting techniques is advisable in tissue culture derived plants as it allows for detection of variation in diverse components of the genome (Asif and Othman 2005).

In the following sections we summarize literature concerning application of molecular markers for genetic fidelity assessment of *in vitro* cultured plants.

GENETIC FIDELITY OF MICROPROPAGATED PLANTS

Ornamental plants

If tissue culture is being employed for commercial production of ornamental plants it is important to achieve a rapid and easy method to detect somaclonal variation, not only to make sure that the characteristics of the variety propagated have not been changed, but also, in some cases to use it as a source of variation that may be employed or obtaining new varieties or forms. Somaclonal variation could be quantified in tissue-cultured *Phalaenopsis* (Chen *et al.* 1998), *Pelar*- gonium (Cassels et al. 1997), Petunia (Cerny et al. 1996), Saintpaulia (Paek and Hahn 1999) and Cymbidium hybrids (Teixeira da Silva and Tanaka 2006; Teixeira da Silva et al. 2006) using RAPD markers. Asiatic Lilium in vitro-induced bulblets showed zero RAPD variation (Varshney et al. 2001). RAPD has also proved to be an efficient tool for assessment of genetic stability in the tissue culture of Chrysanthemum (Martin et al. 2002). A more comprehensive analysis of somaclonal variation in ornamental plant tissue culture and its assessment has been covered extensively elsewhere (Teixeira da Silva 2006) and will not be covered here.

Trees

Molecular markers are especially valuable for efficient tree germplasm management due to the high cost of space and maintenance of plants in most clonally-propagated tree species. Moreover out-crossing of many tree species resulting in high levels of polymorphism, thus consequent duplications or mislabeling are avoided. Identifying variants during the early stages of plant development is essential to avoid propagation of mutant plants in species with extensive growing periods.

Tropical and sub-tropical fruit trees

The analysis of somaclonal variation in micropropagated banana, which is widespread, has been recently reviewed (Sahijram et al. 2003). RAPDs and SCARs allowed for the successful detection of dwarf off-types in micropropagated cavendish (Musa spp. AAA; Umali et al. 2002) and bananas (Ramage et al. 2004). In vitro-micropropagated somaclonal variants could be identified using RAPD profiling of Musa (Grajal-Martín et al. 1998). No genetic variation was detected in analyses of micropropagated banana plantlets obtained from different cytokinin-treatments. In total 625 reproducible monomorphic bands were obtained with 50 RAPD and 12 ISSR primers (Venkatachalam et al. 2006). Micropropagated pineapple (Ananas comosus) was shown to be genetically stable using RAPDs and isozymes (Feuser et al. 2004). Similarly, no polymorphic marker was found among 669 RAPD and 1307 AFLP markers used for the analysis of micropropagated chestnut rose (Rosa roxburghii Tratt; Weng and Deng 2005).

Temperate fruit trees

Modgil et al. (2005) showed the genetic fidelity of adventitious bud, clonally propagated apple (M. pumila) using RAPD and ISSR, while RAPDs were also used to confirm the genetic stability of leaf-derived apple clones (Virscek-Marn et al. 1999), peach somatic embryos (Hashmi et al. 1997) or lemon (Citrus limon) protoplast regenerants (Deng et al. 1995). Hao et al. (2004) found that RAPDs were insufficiently sensitive to detect small changes in the DNA of grapefruit callus cultures, but DNA methylation changes could be detected by methylation sensitive amplified polymorphism (MSAP). Eight Rubus species could be regenerated on 55 different media, and resulting plants' genetic stability was confirmed by RAPDs. The paternity of embryo culture-derived cherry plants was confirmed with RAPD markers (Hormaza 1999). Repeatable somaclonal variation could only be detected when both RAPD and SSR were used in micropropagated kiwi (Palombi and Damiano 2002).

Nut trees and palms

The clonal identity of 4-year long *in vitro*-propagated chestnut (*Castanea sativa*) trees could be confirmed using 40 arbitrary 10-mer primers, with genetic variants, differing from each other and from the original mother plants (*Car*valho *et al.* 2004). In hazelnut RAPD analysis revealed no somaclonal variation between donor plants from which *in vitro* cultures were initiated and micropropagated plants (6year cultures), and no somaclonal variation was detected among *in vitro*-propagated plants; polymorphism (15.6%) was detected between the parent plant and its *in vitro*-propagated progenies, however (Nas *et al.* 2004).

Somaclonal variants, which were shown to be age dependent in date palm, were also suitably detected by RAPD analysis in oil palm, *Elaeis guineensis* (Saker *et al.* 2000). However, the occurrence of somaclonal variants (ca 5%) among populations of somatic embryo-derived oil palms currently hampers the scaling-up of clonal plant production. The global methylation in leaf DNA of abnormal regenerants is 0.5-2.5% lower than in their normal counterparts, as shown by methylation-sensitive RFLPs (Jaligot *et al.* 2002).

Forest and timber trees

Molecular markers in forest breeding and biotechnology have been used to elucidate genome mapping, organization and evolution of forest tree species, provided insight into the maternal and paternal mode of organelle inheritance in angiosperm and gymnosperm trees, especially since repetitive DNA sequences are much more frequent than in the genomes of higher plants (Ahuja 2001), and are also widely used for assessing somaclonal variation. SSRs were used to confirm the genetic fidelity of micropropagated trembling aspen (Rahman and Rajora 2001), and of 10 forest tree species (Rani et al. 2001). Two of the economically most important and widely planted Eucalyptus species, E. camaldulensis and E. tereticornis, showed uniform tissue culture (axillary branch-derived plantlets) and monomorphic fragments generated from 12 arbitrary 10-mer primers (Rani and Raina 1998). Using 17 RAPD primers Tripathi et al. (2006) found a small variation (0.01 and 0.02) in two groups of micropropagated Eucalyptus plants. Melia azedarach, an important timber species also with therapeutic and insecticidal application, displayed many polymorphisms when in vitro-propagated clones were RAPD fingerprinted, the intraclone heterogeneity being attributed to chimerism (Olmos et al. 2002). Genetic variation (0.0045%) in in vitro-propagated cedar (Cedrus libani) could be rapidly detected using 11 arbitrary 10-mer RAPD primers (Piola et al. 1999) while in vitro-cultured C. libani showed reduced methylation as compared to adults (Renau-Morata et al. 2005). Long-term cultures (>10 years) of micropropagated shoots of Japanese black pine (*Pinus thunbergii*) showed no RAPD variation (Goto *et al.* 1998) nor was there any somaclonal variation in somatic embryogenic cultures of black spruce (Picea mariana; Isabel et al. 1993), loblolly pine (Pinus taeda; Tang 2002) or Norway spruce (Fourré et al. 1997). Both SSR and RAPDs were used to genetically characterize white or pedunculate oak (Quercus robur) seedlings, epicormic, crown and micropropagated shoots from mature trees using 9 primers which generated 28 polymorphic bands (Barrett et al. 1997). No intraclonal or interclonal polymorphism in Quercus was detected between embryogenic lines originating from different types of explant from the same seedling, but every one of the 32 primers detected enough polymorphism among clones originating from different plants to allow these origins to be distinguished. No differences in DNA sequences between regenerated oak plantlets and their somatic embryos of origin were detected using RAPDs, but a nodular callus line that had lost its embryogenic capacity was found to be mutant with respect to three other clones originating from the same plantlet (Sánchez et al. 2003). No evidence of genetic variation was found when Quercus robur L. plantlets obtained via somatic embryogenesis were analysed with 40 RAPD primers (Valladares *et al.* 2006). Microspore-derived Q. suber somatic embryos maintained haploidy over long periods, confirmed by SSR analysis and flow cytometry (Bueno et al. 2003). Wilhelm et al. (2005) found, however that despite variation in SSR patterns in somatic embryos, regenerated plants showed no polymorphism. Black locust trees (Robinia pseudoacacia) multiplied by axillary buds (Shu et al. 2003) or terminal shoot buds of 4-year old micropropagated plants (Kanwar and Bindiya 2003) showed no variation in RAPD banding but SSR analyses indicated high levels of mutations in somatic tissues (Lian et al. 2004). ISSR analysis of 41 morphologically normal Robinia ambigua var. idahoensis plants micropropagated by enhanced branching of axillary buds revealed the occurrence of genomic variation, though at a relatively low level (10.62% polymorphic bands; Guo et al. 2006). Six of 48 RAPD primers tested were able to detect polymorphism in anther culture derived poplar plants (Kiss et al. 2001). To test the genetic fidelity of 23 micropropagated plants of a single Populus deltoides clone, eleven 10-mer RAPD primers were used, of which 5 distinguished a total of 13 polymorphisms common across 6 micropropagated plants while the remainder of the amplification products were monomorphic across the micropropagated plants (Rani et al. 1995).

Endangered trees

Genetic integrity of introduced rare and endangered species is vital, especially when these are derived from *in vitro* mass propagation. About 97% homology could be detected between the mother plants and micropropagated plants of *Syzygium travancoricum*, a rare and endangered tree (Anand 2003).

Grain, cereal and forage crops, and grasses (*Poaceae*)

Analytical methods have been developed and applied to identify and quantify cereal species in food products and also to fingerprint and identify grain at the genotype and variety levels since the composition of cereal-based foods is a key factor in determining the quality and safety of the final product, while the reliable identification of cereal species and cultivars is essential for the handling, marketing and processing of grain, and for the protection of plant breeders' rights (Terzi *et al.* 2005).

Yang et al. (1999) reported more than 50 polymorphic bands using 4 DIG-labelled RAPD primers in regenerated rice plants obtained from callus cultures, while an increase in polymorphism from 12% to 17% and to 26% in 1, 3 and 6 month-old cultures, respectively, could be detected within a single line (Kim et al. 2003). Godwin et al. (1997) analyzed 8 rice somaclones generated from mature seed-derived callus cultures using RAPDs, and all somaclonal families differed significantly from the original material, indicating genomic alterations in all families, as did Phong et al. (2001) in dessication-tolerant-derived plants, but Afza et al. (2001) found limited androclonal variation in rice anther cultures. Differences in some somaclonal variants derived from a landrace rice variety, Indrayani, were shown to be high yielding and resistant to multiple diseases, and could be differentiated on the basis of SSRs (Chowdari et al. 1998). Alteration in chloroplast DNA (ctDNA) in long-term cultures of calli derived from rice seeds were investigated using a BamHI-1 fragment of rice ctDNA as a probe. Among 10 callus lines cultured for 36 months, two lines (T36-1 and T36-2) were found to have large deletions (76 kb and 63 kb, respectively) in the chloroplast genome, while none of the same callus lines cultured for 6 months showed any ctDNA alteration (Abe et al. 2002).

RAPD analysis was performed to assess DNA variation among rye (*Secale cereale*) plants regenerated from immature embryos and inflorescences. From the studied plants, 40% showed at least one variation, and the number of mutations per plant was quite high, ranging from 1 up to 12 (Linacero *et al.* 2000). Similarly, Rakoczy-Trojanowska (2002) found a relatively high proportion of immature embryos derived rye R₁ plants with changed RAPD profiles. In *Triticum* (and also tobacco) protoplast cultures and subsequent regenerants, somaclonal variation was detectable by RAPDs (Brown *et al.* 1993). No restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs) were detected in the mitochondrial, plastid and nuclear genomes in the *Festuca pratensis* plants regenerated from suspension cultures (Vallés et al. 1993).

Somaclonal variation could be detected using RAPD analysis in tissue-cultured *Lolium* derived from cell suspension-derived protoplasts (Wang *et al.* 1993). The microspore origin of anther-culture-derived plants of flax (*Linum usitatissimum*) was determined using ISSR and RAPD markers (Chen *et al.* 1998). Somaclonal variation in axillary branching propagation and indirect somatic embryogenesis of alfalfa was estimated by RAPD fingerprinting (Piccioni *et al.* 1997), while SSR fingerprinting revealed a reduction in the number of copies of a highly repetitive DNA sequence (Pluhar *et al.* 2001).

Medicinal and aromatic plants

Monitoring genetic fidelity in medicinal plants with the help of molecular markers allows for the formulation of drugs free from batch-to-batch variations (e.g. in garlic, Ipek *et al.* 2003), for effective *ex situ* conservation programs. An overview of the regeneration of medicinal plants by direct and indirect organogenesis and by somatic embryogenesis from various types of explants is presented elsewhere (Rout *et al.* 2000), as is their use with other biotechnological approaches to improve medicinal plants through somaclonal variation, and molecular markers to assess its level.

Jamrosa, a hybrid Cymbopogon, is an essential oil-yielding plant containing geraniol, used as a substitute for palmarosa (C. martinii), and commercially used in perfumery, pharmaceuticals, soap and cosmetic industries, and reclamation of waste land; Callus-derived Cymbopogon somaclones, despite gross differences in RAPD banding patterns displayed uniformity in essential oil yield and quality (Nayak et al. 2003). RAPDs and SSRs proved genetic stability in micropropagated Achillea, comprising ten taxa of the medicinally important A. millefolium group and six related species (Wallner et al. 1996). Varietal specific RAPD markers could be detected in tissue-cultured Piper longum, a dioecious medicinal herb (Philip et al. 2000). Digitalis obscura plants produce cardenolides, secondary metabolites of major interest to the pharmaceutical industry. RAPDs provide a simple and effective assay for screening elite cultivars and confirm their genetic stability over long-term cultures (Gavidia et al. 1996). Similar RAPD controls for in vitro-propagated Epimedium (Nakai et al. 1996) resulted in standardization of plantlet selection and greater scrutiny of medicinal plants. Guo et al. (2006) found genomic instabilities in phenotypically normal regenerated plants of Codonopsis lanceolata Benth. et Hook. f. using ISSR and RAPD markers as 15.7 and 24.9% of the bands, respectively, were polymorphic. Five arbitrary RAPD primers used to analyze the genetic fidelity of Chlorophytum arundinaceum Baker plants regenerated through shoot bud differentiation displayed the same banding profile within all the micropropagated plants and in vivo explant donor (Lattoo et al. 2006). The cytological and molecular analysis complemented and compared well and showed no genomic alterations in Chlorophytum arundinaceum Baker, an endangered medicinal herb regenerated through shoot bud differentiation.

The capacity to detect genetic mono- or polymorphisms in callus-induced plantlets of garlic (*Allium sativum*; Al-Zahim *et al.* 1999), *Panax notoginseng* somatic embryos (Shoyama *et al.* 1997), and turmeric (Salvi *et al.* 2001) allows for elimination of genetic variants for clonal micropropagation, or exploitation of somaclonal variation for the selection of new varieties with novel features, such as increased secondary metabolite yields, but in the case of garlic, morphogenic characters and RAPD banding could not be correlated. In the case of American ginseng, *P. quinquefolium*, long term suspension cultures showed different RAPD banding patterns to young seedling-derived somatic embryos (Punja *et al.* 2004). Gametoclonal variation was detected by novel RAPD bands in onion gynogenesis (Bohanec *et al.* 1995). *Tylophora indica*, a medicinal plant with multifarious uses, once *in vitro*-propagated by 2,4-D- and kinetin-induced callus, produces monomorphic amplification products when 20 arbitrary nucleotide primers are used, indicating the genetic homogeneity and true-to-type nature of regenerants (Jayanthi and Mandal 2001). Devarumath et al. (2002) considered RAPD and ISSR fingerprints as useful markers to evaluate genetic integrity of micropropagated plants of three diploid and triploid elite tea clones representing Camellia sinensis (China type) and C. assamica spp. assamica (Assam-India type). Out of 49 RAPD primers used by Mondal and Chand (2002) to assess genetic instability among micropropagated tea [Camellia sinensis (L). O. Kuntze] cultivar 'T-78', 11 generated polymorphism in four out of 17 micropropagated plants and one mother plant, which otherwise were morphologically indistinguishable. Polymorphism among those four plants showed an identical banding pattern suggesting the occurrence of a single mutation. Similar results were obtained by Singh et al. (2004) in vegetatively propagated clones. SSRs have been adapted as the standard for cocoa (Theobroma cacao) genetic diversity and fingerprinting analysis (Saunders et al. 2005), and have been used to detect and quantify in vitro-culture induced chimerism (López et al. 2005). Somaclonal variability in hop (Humulus lupulus) in vitro meristem cultures and clones (Patzak 2003) was assessed by RAPDs and ISSRs. Somaclones of in vitro-cultured leaf segment-derived shoots of Lycium chinense, commercially important as a medicinal plant, and as a beverage in Asia, could be detected by RAPDs (Ahn et al. 2004) Mango ginger, Curcuma amanda, an Indian medicinal plant showed new polymorphic RAPD bands, i.e. variation, in in vitro rhizome-derived, callus-induced shoots (Prakash et al. 2004). RAPD bands generated using twenty 10-mer primers used in RAPD were monomorphic in tissue cultured clonal plants of Plumbago zeylanica, important for the alkaloid, plumbagin (Rout and Das 2002). In Angelica, a local Japanese medicinal plant, RFLP could not distinguish different in vitro plants, whereas RAPDs could (Watanabe et al. 1998).

Other fruit and vegetable crops

ISSR analysis was effective to eliminate somaclonal variants in in vitro leaf-derived horseradish plants (Rostiana et al. 1999). Somaclonal variation was detectable (0.05%) in tissue-cultured sugarbeet (Beta vulgaris) using RAPDs (Munthali et al. 1996). In vitro propagated cauliflower (Brassica oleracea) somatic embryos did not show any variation in ISSR banding (Leroy et al. 2000b). Numerous molecular markers are used for checking somaclonal variation in S. melongena (eggplant) somatic embryogenesis (Kantharajah and Golegaonkar 2004). Despite the presence of dwarf phenotypes, 157 RAPD markers could not detect intraclonal variation in 77 asparagus plants regenerated from embryogenic lines (Raimondi et al. 2001). Taylor et al. (1995) reported that RAPDs detected gross genetic changes occurring in sugarcane tissues subjected to prolonged (2 years) in vitro culture. Regeneration in sunflower (Helianthus annuus) based on successive excision of the apical and axillary shoots originating from pre-existing meristems resulted in no somaclonal variation, as confirmed by AFLP analyses (Hewezi et al. 2003).

No polymorphisms could be detected through RAPD analysis in tomato calli or progeny of regenerants, despite morphological differences (Rus-Kortekaas *et al.* 1994), nor using RAPD or ISSR markers (Martins *et al.* 2004).

GENETIC FIDELITY OF PLANTS AFTER CRYOPRESERVATION

Fruit trees

Long-term stored, cryopreserved by vitrification 'Gala' apple (Liu *et al.* 2004), *Amorphophallus* (Zhang *et al.* 2001) or *Prunus* (Helliot *et al.* 2002) shoot tips showed no RAPD polymorphisms, confirming isozyme analyses, showing that RAPDs are useful for discerning variation in this useful germplasm conservation technique. On the other hand Hao *et al.* (2001) reported that cryopreservation of apple, despite no differences at the cytological and AFLP levels, produced new demethylation sites. No differences were found between the DNA patterns obtained using RAPD from plantlets regenerated from control and plantlets regenerated directly from cryopreserved shoot-tips of four grape (*Vitis vinifera*) cultivars and one kiwi (*Actinidia deliciosa*) cultivar (Zhai *et al.* 2003).

Forest and timber trees

No reproducible variation of the RAPD profiles generated by ten 10-mer primers was observed in cryopreserved tissues of hybrid aspen (Populus tremula L. × Populus tremuloides Michx.), an economically important woody plant and widely used model system of forest scientists (Jokipii et al. 2004). High levels of polymorphism were shown in RAPD analysis of cryopreserved apical meristem-tips of Melia azedarach (Scocchi et al. 2004). de Verno et al. (1999) found large differences in RAPD banding following cryopreservation (2-12 months) of P. glauca somatic embryos. In other studies with larch (Larix X eurolepsis), black spruce (Picea mariana; Klimaszewska et al. 1992), Norway spruce (Picea abies; Nørgaard et al. 1993), Douglas fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii; Gupta et al. 1995), Carribean pine (Pinus caribaea; Lainé et al. 1992), Scott's pine (Pinus silvestris; Häggman et al. 1998) and maritime pine (Pinus pinaster; Bercetche and Pâques 1995) no genetic changes were found when RAPD analysis was conducted on cryopreserved regenerants.

Medicinal and aromatic plants

Plants derived from cryopreserved shoot tips of *Dioscorea floribunda*, a medicinal species of yam, were genetically stable, with only 1 polymorphic band being obtained from over 5,000 RAPD bands (Ahuja *et al.* 2002).

Tuberous crops

Embryogenic tissues of *Dioscorea bulbifera* (yam) were cryopreserved using encapsulation-dehydration, and the genetic stability of plants regenerated from cryopreserved embryogenic tissues was assessed using RAPDs: 10 primers produced 62 clear reproducible DNA fragment profiles and the amplification products were monomorphic for all the plantlets except one; a total of 4960 DNA fragments were obtained from this study showing no variation in RAPD profiles (Dixit *et al.* 2003).

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

As the agricultural and horticultural sectors, especially the floricultural sector, move towards a greater efficiency in production, higher stringency in quality control, and greater demand by the consumer, there is a need to accompany the advances in transgenic and molecular biotechnology with an equal focus on tissue culture. More and more plants produced clonally by micropropagation are becoming the source of material for field plantations, which creates a constantly growing demand for sensible, efficient and reliable tools for analysis of the somaclonal variation, or the elimination of genetic variation. Molecular markers are those tools.

REFERENCES

- Abe T, Ii N, Togashi A, Sasahara T (2002) Large deletions in chloroplast DNA of rice calli after long-term culture. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 159, 917-923
- Afza R, Xie J, Shen M, Zapata-Arias FJ, Khamis Fundi H, Lee K-S, Bobadilla-Mucino E, Kodym A (2001) Detection of androclonal variation in anther-cultured rice lines using RAPDs. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 37, 644-647

Ahn I-S, Park YG, Shin D-I, Sul I-W (2004) In vitro regeneration of Lycium

chinense Miller and detection of silent somaclones with RAPD polymorphisms. Journal of Plant Biotechnology 6, 157-163

- Ahuja S, Mandal BB, Dixit S, Srivastava PS (2002) Molecular, phenotypic and biosynthetic stability in *Dioscorea floribunda* plants derived from cryopreserved shoot tips. *Plant Science* 163, 971-977
- Al-Zahim MA, Ford-Lloyd BV, Newbury T (1999) Detection of somaclonal variation in garlic (*Allium sativum* L.) using RAPD and cytological analysis. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 473-477
- Anand A (2003) Studies on genetic stability of micropropagated plants and reintroduction in an endemic and endangered taxon: Syzygium travancoricum Gamble (Myrtaceae). Journal of Plant Biotechnology 5, 201-207
- Asif JM, Othman RY (2005) Characterization of fusarium wilt-resistant and fusarium wilt-susceptible somaclones of banana cultivar Rastali (*Musa* AAB) by random amplified polymorphic DNA and retrotransposon markers. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 23, 241-249
- Barrett C, Lefort F, Douglas GC (1997) Genetic characterization of oak seedlings, epicormic, crown and micropropagated shoots from mature trees by RAPD and microsatelite PCR. *Scientia Horticulturae* 70, 319-330
- Bercetche J, Pâques M (1995) Somatic embryogenesis in maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*). In: Jain SM, Gupta PK, Newton RJ (Eds) Somatic Embryogenesis in Woody Plants, Vol. 3 Gymnosperms, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 221-242
- Bohanec B, Jakše M, Ihan A, Javornik B (1995) Studies of gynogenesis in onion (*Allium cepa* L.): induction procedures and genetic analysis of regenerants. *Plant Science* **104**, 215-224
- Bolibok H, Rakoczy-Trojanowska M (2006) Genetic mapping of QTLs for tissue-culture response in plants. *Euphytica* 149, 73-83
- Boluarte-Medina T, Veilleux RE (2002) Phenotypic characterization and bulk segregant analysis of anther culture response in two backcross families of diploid potato. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 68, 277-286
- Brown PTH, Lange FD, Krang E, Lorz H (1993) Analysis of single protoplasts and regenerated plants by PCR and RAPD technology. *General Gen*etics 237, 311-317
- Bueno MA, Gomez A, Sepulveda F, Seguí JM, Testillano PS, Manzanera JA, Risueño M-C (2003) Microspore-derived embryos from *Quercus suber* anthers mimic zygotic embryos and maintain haploidy in long-term anther culture. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 160, 953-960
- Carvalho LC, Goulão L, Oliveira C, Gonçalves JC, Amâncio S (2004) RAPD assessment for identification of clonal identity and genetic stability of *in vitro* propagated chestnut hybrids. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 77, 23-27
- Casas AM, Igartua E, Balaguer G, Moreno MA (1999) Genetic diversity of Prunus rootstocks analyzed by RAPD markers. Euphytica 110, 139-149
- Cassels AC, Croke JT, Doyle BM (1997) Evaluation of image analysis, flow cytometry, and RAPD analysis for the assessment of somaclonal variation and induced mutation in tissue culture-derived *Pelargonium* plants. *Angewandte Botanik* 71, 125-130
- Cerny TA, Caetano-Anollés G, Trigiano RN, Starman TW (1996) Molecular phylogeny and DNA amplification fingerprinting of *Petunia* taxa. *Theoretical* and Applied Genetics 92, 1009-1016
- Chen WH, Chen TM, Fu YM, Hsieh RM (1998) Studies on somaclonal variation in *Phalaenopsis*. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 7-13
- Chen Y, Hausner G, Kenaschuk E, Procunier D, Dribnenki P, Penner G (1998) Identification of microspore-derived plants in anther culture of flax (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) using molecular markers. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 44-48
- Chowdari KV, Ramakrishna W, Tamhankar SA, Hendre RR, Gupta VS, Sahasrabudhe NA, Ranjekar PK (1998) Identification of minor DNA variations in rice somaclonal variants. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 55-58
- Courtial B, Feuerbach F, Eberhard S, Rohmer L, Chiapello H, Camilleri C, Lucas H (2001) Tnt1 transposition events are induced by *in vitro* transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, and transposed copies integrate into genes. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 265, 32-42
- **Deng ZN, Gentile A, Nocolosi E, Domina F, Vardi A, Tribulato E** (1995) Identification of *in vivo* and *in vitro* lemon mutants with RAPD markers. *Journal of Horticultural Science* **70**, 117-125
- Devarumath RM, Nandy S, Ravi V, Marimuthu S, Muraleedharan N, Raina SN (2002) RAPD, ISSR and RFLP fingerprints as useful markers to evaluate genetic integrity of micropropagated plants of three diploid and triploid elite tea clones representing *Camellia sinensis* (China type) and *C. assamica* ssp. assamica (Assam-India type). Plant Cell Reports 21, 166-173
- de Verno LL, Park YS, Bonga JM, Barrett JD, Simpson C (1999) Somaclonal variation in cryopreserved embryogenic clones of white spruce [*Picea glauca* (Moench) Voss.]. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 948-953
- Dixit S, Mandal BB, Ahuja S, Srivastava PS (2003) Genetic stability assessment of plants regenerated from cryopreserved embryogenic tissues of *Dioscorea bulbifera* L. using RAPD, biochemical and morphological analysis. *CryoLetters* 24, 77-84
- Feuser S, Meler K, Daquinta M, Guerra MP, Nodari RO (2004) Genotypic fidelity of micropropagated pineapple (*Ananas comosus*) plantlets assessed by isozyme and RAPD markers. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 72, 221-227
- Fourré J-L, Berger P, Niquet L, André P (1997) Somatic embryogenesis and somaclonal variation in Norway spruce: morphogenic, cytogenetic and molecular approaches. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 94, 159-169

- Gavidia I, Agudo LDC, Pérez-Bermúdez P (1996) Selection and long-term cultures of high-yielding *Digitalis obscura* plants: RAPD markers for analysis of genetic stability. *Plant Science* **121**, 197-205
- Godwin ID, Sangduen N, Kananuvatchaidach R, Piperidis G, Adkins SW (1997) RAPD polymorphisms among variant and phenotypically normal rice (*Oryza sativa* var. *indica*) somaclonal progenies. *Plant Cell Reports* **16**, 320-324
- Goto S, Thakur RC, Ishii K (1998) Determination of genetic stability in longterm micropropagated shoots of *Pinus thunbergii* Parl. using RAPD markers. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 193-197
- Grajal-Martín MJ, Siverio-Grillo G, Marrero-Domínguez A (1998) The use of randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) for the study of genetic diversity and somaclonal variation in *Musa. Acta Horticulturae* 490, 445-454
- Guo WL, Gong L, Ding ZF, Li YD, Li FX, Zhao SP, Liu B (2006) Genomic instability in phenotypically normal regenerants of medicinal plant *Codonopsis lanceolata* Benth. *et* Hook. f., as revealed by ISSR and RAPD markers. *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 896-906
- Guo W, Li Y, Gong L, Li F, Dong Y, Liu B (2006) Efficient micropropagation of *Robinia ambigua* var. *idahoensis* (Idaho Locust) and detection of genomic variation by ISSR markers. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 84, 343-351
- Gupta PK, Timmis R, Timmis KA, Carlson WC, Welty EDE (1995) Somatic embryogenesis in Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*). In: Jain SM, Gupta PK, Newton RJ (Eds) Somatic Embryogenesis in Woody Plants (Vol 3) Gymnosperms, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 303-313
- Häggman HM, Ryynänen LA, Aronen TS, Krajnakova J (1998) Cryopreservation of embryogenic cultures of Scots pine. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 54, 45-53
- Hao Y-J, Liu Q-L, Deng X-X (2001) Effect of cryopreservation on apple genetic resources at morphological, chromosomal, and molecular levels. *Cryobiology* 43, 46-53
- Hao Y-J, Wen X-P, Deng X-X (2004) Genetic and epigenetic evaluations of citrus calluses recovered from slow-growth culture. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 161, 479-484
- Hashmi G, Huettel R, Meyer R, Krusberg L, Hammerschlag FA (1997) RAPD analysis of somaclonal variants derived from embryo callus cultures of peach. *Plant Cell Reports* 16, 624-627
- Helliot B, Madur D, Dirlewanger E, de Boucaud MT (2002) Evaluation of genetic stability in cryopreserved *Prunus. Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* **38**, 493-500
- Hewezi T, Jardinaud F, Alibert Gilbert, Kallerhoff J (2003) A new approach for efficient regeneration of a recalcitrant genotype of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) by organogenesis induction on split embryonic axes. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **73**, 81-86
- Hirochika H, Sugimoto K, Otsuki Y, Tsugawa H, Kanda M (1996) Retrotransposons of rice involved in mutations induced by tissue culture. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 93, 7783-7788
- Hormaza JI (1999) Early selection in cherry combining RAPDs with embryo culture. Scientia Horticulturae 79, 121-126
- Hossain MA, Konisho K, Minami M, Nemoto K (2003) Somaclonal variation of regenerated plants in chili pepper (*Capsicum annuum L.*). *Euphytica* 130, 233-239
- Ipek M, Ipek A, Simon PW (2003) Comparison of AFLPs, RAPD markers, and isozymes for diversity assessment of garlic and detection of putative duplicates in germplasm collections. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 128, 246-252
- Isabel N, Tremblay L, Michaud M, Tremblay FM, Bousquet J (1993) RAPDs as an aid to evaluate the genetic integrity of somatic embryogenesisderived populations of *Picea mariana* (Mill) BSP. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 86, 81-87
- Jaligot E, Beulé T, Rival A (2002) Methylation-sensitive RFLPs: characterisation of two oil palm markers showing somaclonal variation-associated polymorphism. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 104, 1263-1269
- Jaligot E, Beule T, Baurens F-C, Billotte N, Rival A (2003) Search for methylation-sensitive amplification polymorphisms associated with the "mantled" variant phenotype in oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jasq.). Genome 47, 224-228
- Jayanthi M, Mandal PK (2001) Plant regeneration through somatic embryogenesis and RAPD analysis of regenerated plants in *Tylophora indica* (Burm. F. Merrill). In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 37, 576-580
- Jokipii S, Ryynänen L, Kallio PT, Aronen T, Häggman H (2004) A cryopreservation method maintaining the genetic fidelity of a model forest tree, *Populus tremula* L. x *Populus tremuloides* Michx. *Plant Science* 166, 799-806
- Kantharajah AS, Golegaonkar PG (2004) Somatic embryogenesis in eggplant. Scientia Horticulturae 99, 107-117
- Kanwar K, Bindiya K (2003) Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPDs) markers for genetic analysis in micropropagated plants of *Robinia pseudo*acacia L. Euphytica 132, 41-47
- Kim DS, Lee IS, Hyun DY, Jang CS, Song HS, Seo YW, Lee YI (2003) Detection of DNA instability induced from tissue culture and irradiation in *Oryza sativa* L. by RAPD analysis. *Journal of Plant Biotechnology* **5**, 25-31
- Kiss J, Kondrák M, Törjék O, Kiss E, Gyulai G, Mázik-Tökei K, Heszky LE (2001) Morphological and RAPD analysis of poplar trees of anther culture origin. *Euphytica* 118, 213-221

Klimaszewska K, Ward C, Cheliak W (1992) Cryopreservation and plant re-

generation from embryogenic cultures of larch (*Larix X eurolepsis*) and black spruce (*Picea mariana*). Journal of Experimental Botany **43**, 73-79

- Lainé E, Bade P, David A (1992) Recovery of plants from cryopreserved embryogenic cell suspensions of *Pinus caribaea*. *Plant Cell Reports* 11, 295-298
- Lattoo SK, Bamotra S, Sapru Dhar R, Khan S, Dhar AK (2006) Rapid plant regeneration and analysis of genetic fidelity of *in vitro* derived plants of *Chlorophytum arundinaceum* Baker – an endangered medicinal herb. *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 499-506
- Leroy XJ, Leon K, Charles G, Branchard M (2000) Cauliflower somatic embryogenesis and analysis of regenerant stability by ISSRs. *Plant Cell Reports* 19, 1102-1107
- Lian C, Oishi R, Miyashita N, Hogetsu T (2004) High somatic instability of a microsatellite locus in a clonal tree, *Robinia pseudoacacia*. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 108, 836-841
- Linacero R, Freitas Alves E, Vázquez AM (2000) Hot spots of DNA instability revealed through the study of somaclonal variation in rye. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 100, 506-511
- Liu Y, Wang X, Liu L (2004) Analysis of genetic variation in surviving apple shoots following cryopreservation by vitrification. *Plant Science* 166, 677-685
- López CMR, Wetten AC, Wilkinson MJ (2004) Detection and quantification of *in vitro*-culture induced chimerism using simple sequence repeat (SSR) analysis in *Theobroma cacao* (L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 110, 157-166
- Martin C, Uberhuaga E, Perez C (2002) Application of RAPD markers in the characterisation of *Chrysanthemum* varieties and the assessment of somaclonal variation. *Euphytica* 127, 247-253
- Martins M, Sarmento D, Oliveira M (2004) Genetic stability of micropropagated almond plantlets, as assessed by RAPD and ISSR markers. *Plant Cell Reports* 23, 492-496
- Modgil M, Mahajan K, Chakrabarti SK, Sharma DR, Sobti RC (2005) Molecular analysis of genetic stability in micropropagated apple rootstock MM106. *Scientia Horticulturae* **104**, 151-160
- Mondal TK, Chand PK (2002) Detection of genetic variation among micropropagated tea [Camellia sinensis (L). O. Kuntze] by RAPD analysis. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 38, 296-299
- Morcillo F, Gabneur C, Adam H, Richaud F, Singh R, Cheah SC, Rival A, Duval Y, Tregear JW (2006) Somaclonal variation in micropropagated oil palm. Characterization of two novel genes with enhanced expression in epigenetically abnormal cell lines and in response to auxin. *Tree Physiology* 26, 585-94
- Munthali MT, Newbury HJ, Ford-Lloyd BV (1996) The detection of somaclonal variants of beet using RAPD. Plant Cell Reports 15, 474-478
- Nakai R, Shoyama Y, Shiraishi S (1996) Genetic characterization of *Epime-dium* species using random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) and PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) diagnosis. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 19, 67-70
- Nas MN, Mutlu N, Read PE (2004) Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis of long-term cultured hybrid hazelnut. *HortScience* 39, 1079-1082
- Nayak S, Debata BK, Srivastava VK, Sangwan NS (2003) Evaluation of agronomically useful somaclonal variants in Jamrosa (a hybrid *Cymbopogon*) and detection of genetic changes through RAPD. *Plant Science* 164, 1029-1035
- Nhut DT, Hai NT, Don NT, Teixeira da Silva JA, Tran Thanh Van K (2006) Latest applications of Thin Cell Layer (TCL) culture systems in plant regeneration and morphogenesis. In: Teixeira da Silva JA (Ed) *Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues* (1st Edn, Vol III), Global Science Books, London, pp 465-471
- Norgaard JV, Duran V, Johnsen Ø, Krogstrup P, Baldursson S, von Arnold S (1993) Variations in cryotolerance of embryogenic *Picea abies* cell lines and the association to genetic, morphological and physiological factors. *Canadian Journal of Forestry Research* 23, 2560-2567
- Olmos SE, Lavia G, di Renzo M, Mroginski L, EcheniqueV (2002) Genetic analysis of variation in micropropagated plants of *Melia azdarach* L. *In Vitro Cellular and Development Biology – Plant* 38, 617-622
- Paek K-Y, Hahn E-J (1999) Variations in African Violet 'Crimson Frost' micropropagated by homogenized leaf tissue culture. *HortTechnology* 9, 625-628
- Palombi MA, Damiano C (2002) Comparison between RAPD and SSR molecular markers in detecting genetic variation in kiwifruit (*Actinidia deliciosa* A. Chev). *Plant Cell Reports* 20, 1061-1066
- Patzak J (2003) Assessment of somaclonal variability in hop (*Humulus lupulus* L.) in vitro meristem cultures and clones by molecular methods. *Euphytica* 131, 343-350
- Philip S, Banerjee NS, Das MR (2000) Genetic variation and micropropagation in three varieties of *Piper longum. Current Science* 78, 169
- Phong DT, Muoi LT, Binh LT (2001) RAPD variability in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) plants derived from desiccation-tolerant calli. *Euphytica* 121, 297-303
- Piccioni E, Barcaccia G, Alcinelli M, Standardi A (1997) Estimating alfalfa somaclonal variation in axillary branching propagation and indirect somatic embryogenesis by RAPD fingerprinting. *International Journal of Plant Science* 158, 556-562
- Piola F, Rohr R, Heizmann P (1999) Rapid detection of genetic variation within and among *in vitro* propagated cedar (*Cedrus libani* Loudon) clones.

Plant Science 141, 159-163

- Pluhar SA, Erickson L, Pauls KP (2001) Effects of tissue culture on a highly repetitive DNA sequence (E180 satellite) in *Medicago sativa*. *Plant Cell*, *Tissue and Organ Culture* 67, 195-199
- Prakash S, Elangomathavan R, Seshadri S, Kathiravan K, Ignacimuthu S (2004) Efficient regeneration of *Curcuma amanda* Roxb. plantlets from rhizome and leaf sheath explants. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 78, 159-165
- Punja ZK, Feeney M, Schluter C, Tautorus T (2004) Multiplication and germination of somatic embryos of American ginseng derived from suspension cultures and biochemical and molecular analyses of plantlets. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant* 40, 329-338
- Rahman MH, Rajora OP (2001) Microsatellite DNA somaclonal variation in micropropagated trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*). *Plant Cell Reports* 20, 531-536
- Raimondi JP, Masuelli RW, Camadro EL (2001) Assessment of somaclonal variation in *Asparagus* by RAPD fingerprinting and cytogenetic analyses. *Scientia Horticulturae* **90**, 19-29
- Rakoczy-Trojanowska M (2002) Characteristics of somaclonal variation in rye (Secale cereale L.). Biotechnologia 2, 175-183
- Ramage CM, Borda AM, Hamill SD, Smith MK (2004) A simplified PCR test for early detection of dwarf off-types in micropropagated Cavendish bananas (*Musa* spp. AAA). *Scientia Horticulturae* 103, 145-151
- Rani V, Raina SN (1998) Genetic analysis of enhanced-axillary-branching-derived *Eucalyptus tereticornis* Smith and *E. camaldulensis* Dehn. plants. *Plant Cell Reports* 17, 236-242
- Rani V, Parida A, Raina SN (1995) Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers for genetic analysis in micropropagated plants of *Populus deltoides* Marsh. *Plant Cell Reports* 14, 459-462
- Rani V, Parida A, Raina SN (2001) Chromosome number dependent genome size and RAPD fingerprinting diagnostic for integrity of enhanced axillary branching-derived plants of ten forest tree species. *Acta Horticulturae* 560, 531-534
- Renau-Morata B, Nebauer SG, Arrillaga I, Segura J (2005) Assessments of somaclonal variation in micropropagated shoots of *Cedrus*: consequences of axillary bud breaking. *Tree Genetics and Genomics* 1, 3-10
- Rostiana O, Niwa M, Marubashi W (1999) Efficiency of inter-simple sequence repeat PCR for detecting somaclonal variation among leaf-cultureregenerated plants of horseradish. *Breeding Science* **49**, 245-250
- Rout GR, Das G (2002) An assessment of genetic integrity of micropropagated plants of *Plumbago zeylanica* by RAPD markers. *Biologia Plantarum* **45**, 27-32
- Rout GR, Samantaray S, Das G (2002) In vitro manipulation and propagation of medicinal plants. *Biotechnology Advances* 18, 91-120
- Rus-Kortekaas W, Smulders MJM, Arens P, Vosman P (1994) Direct comparison of levels of genetic variation in tomato detected by a GACA-containing microsatellite probe and by random amplified polymorphic DNA. *Genome* **37**, 375-381
- Sahijram L, Soneji JR, Bollamma KT (2003) Analyzing somaclonal variation in micropropagated bananas (*Musa* spp.). In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 39, 551-556
- Saker MM, Bekheet SA, Taha HS, Fahmy AS, Moursy HA (2000) Detection of somaclonal variations in tissue culture-derived date palm plants using isoenzyme analysis and RAPD fingerprints. *Biologia Plantarum* 43, 347-351
- Salvi ND, George L, Eapen S (2001) Plant regeneration from leaf base callus of turmeric and random amplified polymorphic DNA analysis of regenerated plants. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **66**, 113-119
- Sánchez MC, Martínez MT, Valladares S, Ferro E, Viéitez AM (2003) Maturation and germination of oak somatic embryos originated from leaf and stem explants: RAPD markers for genetic analysis of regenerants. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 160, 699-707
- Satoh H, Takashima T, Escalante A, Egashira H, Imanishi S (2000) Molecular markers mapped around the high shoot regeneration capacity gene *Rg-2* in *Lycopersicon chilense*. *Breeding Science* **50**, 251-256
- Saunders JA, Mischke S, Leamy EA, Hemeida AA (2005) Selection of international molecular standards for DNA fingerprinting of *Theobroma cacao*. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 110, 41-47
- Scocchi A, Faloci M, Medina R, Olmos S, Mroginski L (2004) Plant recovery of cryopreserved apical meristem-tips of *Melia azedarach* L. using encapsulation/dehydration and assessment of their genetic stability. *Euphytica* 135, 29-38
- Shoyama Y, Zhu XX, Nakai R, Shiraishi S, Kohda H (1997) Micropropagation of *Panax notoginseng* by somatic embryogenesis and RAPD analysis of regenerated plantlets. *Plant Cell Reports* 16, 450-453
- Shu QY, Liu GS, Qi DM, Chu CC, Liu J, Li HJ (2003) An effective method for axillary bud culture and RAPD analysis of cloned plants in tetraploid black locust. *Plant Cell Reports* 22, 175-180
- Singh M, Saroop J, Dhiman B (2004) Detection of intra-clonal genetic variability in vegetatively propagated tea using RAPD markers. *Biologia*

Plantarum 48, 113-115

- Tang W (2002) In vitro regeneration of loblolly pine and random amplified polymorphic DNA analyses of regenerated plantlets. Plant Cell Reports 20, 163-168
- Taylor PWJ, Geijskes JR, Ko HL, Fraser TA, Henry RJ, Birch RG (1995) Sensitivity of random amplified polymorphic DNA analysis to detect genetic change in sugarcane during tissue culture. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 90, 1165-1173
- Teixeira da Silva JA (2006) Floriculture, Ornamental and Plant Biotechnology: Advances and Topical Issues (1st Edn, Vols I-IV), Global Science Books, London, 2611 pp
- Teixeira da Silva JA, Nhut DT (2003) Control of plant organogenesis: genetic and biochemical signals in plant organ form and development. In: Nhut DT, Tran Thanh Van K, Le BV, Thorpe T (Eds) *Thin Cell Layer Culture System: Regeneration and Transformation Applications*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 135-190
- Teixeira da Silva JA, Tanaka M (2006) Analysis of suitability of DNA extraction protocols for somaclonal variation analysis in *in vitro*-cultured orchids. *Acta Horticulturae* 725, 203-209
- Teixeira da Silva JA, Chan M-T, Sanjaya, Chai M-L, Tanaka M (2006) Priming abiotic factors for optimal hybrid *Cymbidium* (Orchidaceae) PLB and callus induction, plantlet formation, and their subsequent cytogenetic stability analysis. *Scientia Horticulturae* 109, 368-378
- Terzi V, Morcia C, Gorrini A, Stanca AM, Shewry PR, Faccioli P (2005) DNA-based methods for identification and quantification of small grain cereal mixtures and fingerprinting of varieties. *Journal of Cereal Science* **41**, 213-220
- Tripathil SB, Mathish1 NV, Gurumurthi K (2006) Use of genetic markers in the management of micropropagated *Eucalyptus* germplasm. *New Forests* 31, 361-372
- Umali RP, Kameya N, Nakamura I (2002) Development of PCR-based fingerprinting tool in banana (*Musa* sp., AAA) and conversion of negative to positive DNA marker. *HortScience* 37, 1108-1111
- Vallés MP, Wang ZY, Montavon P, Potrykus I, Spangenberg G (1993) Analysis of genetic stability of plants regenerated from suspension cultures and protoplasts of meadow fescue (*Festuca pratensis*). *Plant Cell Reports* 12, 101-106
- Valladares S, Sanchez C, Martinez MT, Ballester A, Vieitez AM (2006) Plant regeneration through somatic embryogenesis from tissues of mature oak trees: true-to-type conformity of plantlets by RAPD analysis. *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 879-886
- Varshney A, Lakshmikumaran M, Srivastava PS, Dhawan V (2001) Establishment of genetic fidelity of *in vitro*-raised *Lilium* bulblets through RAPD markers. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant* 37, 227-231
- Venkatachalam L, Sreedkar RV, Bhagyalakshmi N (2007) Micropropagation in banana using high levels of cytokinins does not involve any genetic changes as revealed by RAPD and ISSR markers. *Plant Growth Regulators* 51, 193-205
- Virscek-Marn M, Bohanec B, Javornik B (1999) Adventitious shoot regeneration from apple leaves – optimization of the protocol and assessment of genetic variation among regenerants. *Phyton* **39**, 61-70
- Wallner E, Weising K, Rompf R, Kahl G, Kopp B (1996) Oligonucleotide fingerprinting and RAPD analysis of *Achillea* species: Characterization and long-term monitoring of micropropagated clones. *Plant Cell Reports* 15, 647-652
- Wang Z-Y, Nagel J, Potrykus I, Spangenberg G (1993) Plants from cell suspension-derived protoplasts of *Lolium* species. *Plant Science* 94, 179-193
- Watanabe A, Araki S, Kobari S, Sudo H, Tsuchida T, Uno T, Kosaka N, Shimomura K, Yamazaki M, Saito K (1998) *In vitro* propagation, restriction fragment length polymorphism, and random amplified polymorphic DNA analyses of *Angelica* plants. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 187-192
- Weng XP, Deng XX (2005) Micropropagation of chestnut rose (*Rosa roxburghii* Tratt) and assessment of genetic stability in *in vitro* plants using RAPD and AFLP markers. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 80, 54-60
- Wessler SR, Bureau TE, White SE (1995) LTR-retrotransposons and MITES important players in the evolution of plant genomes. *Current Opinion in Gen*etics and Development 5, 814-821
- Wilhelm E, Hristoforoglu K, Fluch S, Burg K (2005) Detection of microsatellite instability during somatic embryogenesis of oak (*Quercus robur* L.). *Plant Cell Reports* 23, 790-795
- Yang H, Tabei Y, Kamada H, Kayano T, Takaiwa F (1999) Detection of somaclonal variation in cultured rice cells using digoxogenin-based randomly amplified polymorphic DNA. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 520-526
- Zhai Z, Wu Y, Engelmann F, Chen R, Zhao Y (2003) Genetic stability assessments of plantlets regenerated from cryopreserved *in vitro* cultured grape and kiwi shoot-tips using RAPD. *Cryoletters* **5**, 315-322
- Zhang YJ, Zhang XG, Pang J (2001) Cryopreservation of in vitro-grown shoot tips of Amorphophallus by vitrification. Acta Agronomica Sinica 27, 97-102